
 

 

  

 

June 8, 2018 

 

The Honorable David J. Kautter 

Acting Commissioner 

Internal Revenue Service 

1111 Constitution Ave., N.W.  

Washington, DC 20224 

 

By electronic mail (IRS.Commissioner@IRS.gov) and First Class mail 

 

 Re:  Complaint against Freedom Vote, Inc. 

 

Dear Acting Commissioner Kautter: 

 

Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (“CREW”) respectfully requests 

the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) investigate whether Freedom Vote, Inc. (“FV”), a 

nonprofit organization exempt from taxation pursuant to section 501(c)(4) of the Internal 

Revenue Code (“Code”), is operated primarily to influence political campaigns in violation of 

the Code.1   CREW further requests the IRS investigate whether FV and its executive director, 

James S. Nathanson, violated federal law by failing to disclose more than $1 million it 

apparently spent on political activity between October 1, 2015 and September 30, 2016. 

 

On its fiscal year 2015 tax return, covering October 1, 2015 to September 30, 2016, FV 

admitted spending $1.74 million on direct and indirect political campaign activities. Nearly all 

of this admitted political spending consisted of contributions to a section 527 political 

organization, political expenditures that alone accounted for 48.8% of the group’s overall 

spending in its 2015 fiscal year. FV also appears to have spent more than $1 million to 

broadcast one or more television advertisements opposing an Ohio candidate’s campaign for 

the U.S. Senate, but failed to report that spending as political activity. Factoring in this 

unreported political spending, political expenditures account for at least 80.1% of FV’s overall 

spending in fiscal year 2015. As a result, politics appears to have been FV’s primary activity, a 

violation of its tax-exempt status. In addition, by failing to report its spending on the Ohio 

Senate race as political activity, it appears FV and Mr. Nathanson made false representations to 

the IRS. 

 

 Freedom Vote, Inc.’s Political Activity 

 

FV is a nonprofit corporation established in 2010 in Ohio.2 It was formed “with the 

express purpose of raising money to help pay for the type of turnout operations traditionally 

                                                
1 CREW submits this letter in lieu of Form 13909; a copy is being sent to the Dallas office. 
2 Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, at 1, available at https://bit.ly/2HdyBoH (excerpts attached as Exhibit A); 

Freedom Vote, Inc., Articles of Incorporation, Ohio Secretary of State, July 2, 2010, available at 

https://bit.ly/2HLJCPh.   

mailto:IRS.Commissioner@IRS.gov
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underwritten by the [Republican National Committee].”3 Mr. Nathanson, an Ohio-based 

political consultant, is the group’s executive director.4 

 

As a section 501(c)(4) tax-exempt organization, FV is required to file annual Form 990 

tax returns. Tax-exempt organizations engaged in any “direct or indirect political campaign 

activities on behalf of or in opposition to candidates for public office” also must file a Schedule 

C with their tax returns, which requires disclosure of the amount spent on “political 

expenditures.”5 “Political expenditures” include all “political campaign activities” – defined as 

“[a]ll activities that support or oppose candidates for elective federal, state, or local public 

office.”6  

 

On its 2015 Form 990 tax return, FV disclosed spending $1,744,267 on political 

activity, describing that spending as a contribution “to a section 527 independent expenditure 

only PAC.”7 Specifically, between December 29, 2015, and September 21, 2016, FV made six 

contributions to Fighting for Ohio Fund, a federal independent expenditure-only committee, 

commonly known as a super PAC, totaling $1,700,000.8 Super PACs are organized and 

operated primarily for the purpose of making independent political expenditures, and thus are 

political organizations under section 527.9 FV also reported spending $44,267 directly for 

“section 527 exempt function activities.”10 

 

In addition to these political contributions, FV also broadcast at least one television 

advertisement criticizing former Ohio Gov. Ted Strickland, a candidate for the Ohio Senate 

race.11 The ad, which aired in June and July 2016, criticized former Gov. Strickland for losing 

350,000 jobs while he was in office, claiming, “If you assembled everyone who lost their job 

under Strickland, you’d have Ohio’s third largest city.”12 The ad referred to former Gov. 

Strickland’s Senate candidacy, saying, “[n]ow Ted Strickland wants to bring his job-killing 

policies to Washington,” and closed by suggesting former Gov. Strickland should not be 

allowed to go to Washington as a senator, arguing that “we can’t afford more lost jobs.”13 

                                                
3 Jeanne Cummings, State Parties Look Past RNC for Cash, Politico, Sept. 3, 2010, available at 

https://politi.co/2HhFHc1.   
4 Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, Part VII; Russ Choma, One GOP Consultant, Two Campaigns and a Snarl of 

Outside Groups, OpenSecrets.org, July 28, 2014, available at https://bit.ly/2vzA47g.  
5 Form 990, Part IV, Question 3; 2015 Instructions for Form 990, at 12; 2015 Instructions for Schedule C, at 1, 3. 
6 Id. at 1; 2015 Instructions for Form 990, at 66. 
7 Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, Schedule C, Parts I-A, I-C, and IV. 
8 Fighting for Ohio Fund, FEC Form 3x, 2015 Year-End Report, Jan. 31, 2016, available at https://bit.ly/2qLjVGl; 

Fighting for Ohio Fund, FEC Form 3x, 2016 April Quarterly Report, Amended, Oct. 27, 2016, available at 

https://bit.ly/2qN7dXw; Fighting for Ohio Fund, FEC Form 3X, 2016 October Quarterly Report, Amended, Oct. 

27, 2016, available at https://bit.ly/2J9yI5a.   
9 26 U.S.C. § 527(e)(1). 
10 Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, Schedule C, Parts I-A and I-C. 
11 It is not clear if FV broadcast more than one ad criticizing former Gov. Strickland.  
12 CREW obtained a copy of the ad that aired on station WLWT in Cincinnati on June 20, 2016. A copy of the ad 

is included as Exhibit B and a transcript with screen images is included as Exhibit C. See https://bit.ly/2F4AbaM.  
13 Id. 

https://politi.co/2HhFHc1
https://bit.ly/2vzA47g
https://bit.ly/2qLjVGl
https://bit.ly/2qN7dXw
https://bit.ly/2J9yI5a
https://bit.ly/2F4AbaM
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FV did not disclose to the Federal Election Commission as independent expenditures 

the funds spent to make and broadcast the advertisement, and it did not report its spending on 

the ad as political activity on its 2015 Form 990 tax return.14 An analysis by CREW of ad 

buying contracts on file with the Federal Communication Commission (“FCC”) and collected 

by the Center for Responsive Politics found FV spent more than $1 million to run ads in June 

and July 2016.15 In particular, CREW’s analysis estimated FV spent more than $1.2 million 

“net” or more than $1.5 million “gross” on television ads in June and July 2016. FV also 

reported on its 2015 tax return spending $1,121,077 on “issue advocacy,” an amount that 

appears to account for the anti-Strickland ad buy and provides a minimum estimate of how 

much was spent on the ads.16  

 

FV’s political focus during the 2016 Ohio Senate race is further underscored by its close 

relationship to the Fighting for Ohio Fund, the super PAC to which FV contributed $1.7 million 

in its 2015 fiscal year.17 The Fighting for Ohio Fund spent more than $9 million on independent 

expenditures opposing former Gov. Strickland in the 2016 Ohio Senate race,18 and its ads used 

the same economic critique as FV’s ad.19 FV and the Fighting for Ohio Fund also shared at 

least two vendors, the Main Street Media Group and MMM Consulting.20 According to FV’s 

2015 Form 990, MMM Consulting raised $2,090,000 for FV, a sum sufficient to cover all of 

FV’s contributions to the Fighting for Ohio Fund during the 2016 election cycle.21 MMM 

Consulting’s work for both entities raises the possibility that MMM Consulting raised money 

for FV with the intent that the funds would be transferred to the Fighting for Ohio Fund. 

Bolstering this possibility, five of the six contributions FV made to the Fighting for Ohio Fund 

correspond to exact amounts FV reported receiving from contributors on its Schedule B.22 In 

addition, Mr. Nathanson, FV’s executive director, also serves on the board of another section 

                                                
14 Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, Schedule C, Parts I-A and I-C. (Attached as Exhibit A) 
15 See https://bit.ly/2HgY3xu. CREW downloaded and examined every ad contract collected by the Center for 

Responsive Politics that identified FV as the sponsor in 2016, extracting and compiling information on how much 

FV contracted to spend on ads in terms of both “gross” and “net” expenditures. In order to account for duplicates, 

CREW removed duplicate file names and duplicate spending amounts after extracting spending data from the ad 

contracts. However, some duplicates, amendments, or revisions may have been inadvertently included in the 

CREW’s analysis, rendering it an estimate rather than an exact figure. See CREW spreadsheet of FV FCC ad 

contracts, available at https://bit.ly/2HgSXgK.    
16 Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, Part IX, Line 24a.  
17 FV also contributed an additional $275,000 to the Fighting for Ohio Fund on October 5, 2016, less than a week 

after the close of FV’s 2015 fiscal year. See Fighting for Ohio Fund, FEC Form 3X, 2016 Pre-General Election 

Report, Oct. 27, 2016, available at https://bit.ly/2JW3pvT.   
18 See https://bit.ly/2Hv0BHZ.   
19 Fighting for Ohio Fund has 10 anti-Strickland ads posted on its YouTube page, and they all cite the same 

350,000 job loss number that FV used in its anti-Strickland ad. See https://bit.ly/2F0R5ae.   
20 Contract with WLWT, June 22, 2016, available at https://bit.ly/2qM25TP; Fighting for Ohio Fund, FEC Form 

3X, 2016 October Quarterly Report, Amended, Oct. 27, 2016; Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, Schedule G, 

Part I.  
21 Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, Schedule G, Part I.  
22 Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, Schedule B, Part 1, Lines 3, 8, 9, 12, 15; Fighting for Ohio Fund, FEC 

Form 3X, 2015 Year-End Report, Jan. 31, 2016, at 11; Fighting for Ohio Fund, FEC Form 3X, 2016 April 

Quarterly Report, Amended, Oct. 27, 2016, at 8; Fighting for Ohio Fund, FEC Form 3X, 2016 October Quarterly 

Report, Amended, Oct. 27, 2016, at 11-12. 

https://bit.ly/2HgY3xu
https://bit.ly/2HgSXgK
https://bit.ly/2JW3pvT
https://bit.ly/2Hv0BHZ
https://bit.ly/2F0R5ae
https://bit.ly/2qM25TP
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501(c)(4) nonprofit, the Fighting for Ohio Institute, with two of the Fighting for Ohio Fund’s 

consultants, Scott Guthrie and Tom Whatman.23 Mr. Whatman was described by Politico as an 

adviser to FV in 2010.24  

 

Freedom Vote, Inc.’s Representations to the IRS 

 

As noted above, section 501(c)(4) organizations like FV are required to file annual 

Form 990 tax returns, including a Schedule C if they engage in political activity. The “political 

expenditures” these organizations must disclose include “[a]ll activities that support or oppose 

candidates for elective federal, state, or local public office.”25 

 

According to FV’s 2015 Form 990, signed by Mr. Nathanson on August 14, 2017 under 

penalty of perjury, the group spent a total of $3,575,475 between October 2015 and September 

2016.26 FV filed a Schedule C with the tax return disclosing $1,744,267 in political 

expenditures.27 This amount consists almost entirely of the contributions FV made to the 

Fighting for Ohio Fund.28 FV, however, failed to report the group’s spending on the Ohio 

Senate advertisements on its Schedule C. As discussed above, FV appears to have spent more 

than $1 million on those ads.  

 

Political Activity Under Section 501(c)(4) 

 

Section 501(c)(4) provides tax-exempt status to organizations “not organized for profit 

but operated exclusively for the promotion of social welfare.”29 IRS regulations interpret the 

statute to mean a section 501(c)(4) organization must be “primarily engaged in promoting in 

some way the common good and general welfare of the people of the community.”30 The 

regulations further provide that “direct or indirect participation or intervention in political 

campaigns on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office” does not promote 

social welfare.31 

 

                                                
23 Fighting for Ohio Institute, 2016 Form 990-EZ, Part IV; Fighting for Ohio Fund, FEC Form 3X, 2016 October 

Quarterly Report, Amended, Oct. 27, 2016; Whatman Associates, Inc., Domestic Agent Subsequent Appointment 

(AGS), Office of the Secretary of State of Ohio, March 21, 2013, available at https://bit.ly/2vtUDlQ; see 

https://bit.ly/2JaGaNw.   
24 Cummings, Politico, Sept. 3, 2010. 
25 2015 Instructions for Form 990, at 66. 
26 Freedom Vote, Inc., 2015 Form 990, Part I, Line 18. 
27 Id., Schedule C, Part I-A. 
28 Id., Schedule C, Part I-C. 
29 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(4). 
30 Treas. Reg. § 1.501(c)(4)-1(a)(2)(i). By allowing section 501(c)(4) organizations to be only “primarily” engaged 

in social welfare, the regulation misinterprets the plain meaning of the word “exclusively” in the statute. This 

complaint analyzes FV’s conduct using the “primarily” standard. Under a correct interpretation of the statute, FV’s 

political spending unquestionably would violate its tax-exempt status. 
31 Treas. Reg. § 1.501(c)(4)-1(a)(2)(ii). 

https://bit.ly/2vtUDlQ
https://bit.ly/2JaGaNw
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The IRS has not further defined the “primary activity” standard, and provides only that 

all the facts and circumstances are to be taken into account in determining the “primary 

activity” of a section 501(c)(4) organization.32 Internal IRS training materials, however, assert 

section 501(c) organizations (other than section 501(c)(3) charities) “may generally make 

expenditures for political activities as long as such activities, in conjunction with any other 

non-qualifying activities, do not constitute the organization’s primary activity (51%).”33 

 

Contributions to political organizations are direct or indirect participation or 

intervention in political campaigns. “Contributions to political campaign funds . . . clearly 

violate the prohibition on political campaign intervention” for section 501(c)(3) 

organizations,34 and prohibited political intervention for section 501(c)(3) organizations 

constitutes political activity for section 501(c)(4) groups like FV.35 Accordingly, FV’s 

contributions to the Fighting for Ohio Fund constitute political campaign activities.  

 

FV’s advertising expenditures opposing former Gov. Strickland in the Ohio Senate race 

also likely constitute political activity. Advertisements and other communications that support 

or oppose a candidate but stop short of expressly advocating for or against the candidate’s 

election can constitute political campaign intervention. In Revenue Ruling 2007-41, the IRS 

promulgated guidance on the distinction between issue advocacy and political campaign 

intervention. The IRS takes into consideration all the facts and circumstances of a particular 

communication and identified the key factors as: (1) whether the statement identifies one or 

more candidates; (2) whether the statement expresses approval or disapproval for a candidate’s 

position; (3) whether the statement is delivered close to an election; (4) whether the statement 

makes reference to voting or an election; (5) whether the issue addressed has been raised as an 

issue distinguishing candidates for an office; (6) whether the communication is part of an 

ongoing series of communications by the organization on the issue that are made independent 

of the timing of any election; and (7) whether the timing of the communication is related to a 

non-electoral event such as a scheduled vote on specific legislation by an officeholder running 

in an election.36 

 

                                                
32 Rev. Rul. 68-45, 1968-1 C.B. 259. 
33 Exempt Organizations Determinations Unit 2, Student Guide, Training 29450-002 (Rev. 9-2009), at 7-19 

(emphasis added), available at https://bit.ly/2F0srGI.  
34 IRS, Election Year Activities and the Prohibition on Political Campaign Intervention for Section 501(c)(3) 

Organizations, FS-2006-17, February 2006; see also, e.g., IRS website, The Restriction of Political Campaign 

Intervention by Section 501(c)(3) Tax-Exempt Organizations, Mar. 5, 2014, available at https://bit.ly/1ev87z2.   
35 See, e.g., Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, Guidance for Tax-Exempt Social Welfare Organizations on 

Candidate-Related Political Activities, 78 Fed. Reg. 71535, 71536 (proposed Nov. 29, 2013) (“the IRS generally 

applies the same facts and circumstances analysis under section 501(c)(4)” as it does under section 501(c)(3)); 

Rev. Rul. 81-95 (citing examples of political intervention prohibited under section 501(c)(3) in determining 

political activity for section 501(c)(4) organizations); Priv. Ltr. Rul. 9652026 (Oct. 1, 1996) (“[A]ny activities 

constituting prohibited political intervention by a section 501(c)(3) organization are activities that must be less 

than the primary activities of a section 501(c)(4) organization.”). 
36 Rev. Rul. 2007-41; see also Rev. Rul. 2004-06. 

https://bit.ly/2F0srGI
https://bit.ly/1ev87z2
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FV’s advertisement at issue exhibits all or nearly all of these factors. It identified former 

Gov. Strickland, a candidate in the general election, alluded to his candidacy, was broadcast 

during an active election campaign,37 and expressed disapproval of former Gov. Strickland and 

his positions. The timing of the advertisement also was not related to any non-electoral event, 

and it does not appear the ad was part of an ongoing series of communications by FV on the 

issues of jobs or the economy. FV’s support for the Fighting for Ohio Fund and its anti-

Strickland advertising further suggests the ad was political. Despite these factors showing the 

ad was political, FV seemingly asserted on its tax return the advertisement was “issue 

advocacy” that promoted social welfare and not political activity.38 

 

FV’s failure to correctly classify all its political spending is critical to its apparent 

attempt to avoid violating its tax-exempt status. If only the $1,744,267 FV admitted spending 

on political activity between October 2015 and September 2016 is counted, then 48.8% of FV’s 

fiscal year 2015 expenditures would have been political activity. FV’s Ohio advertisement also 

clearly is political, and must be counted in calculating FV’s political activity. Based on 

CREW’s analysis of the FCC ad contracts, FV appears to have spent more than $1 million on 

the Ohio advertisement, making FV’s fiscal year 2015 political spending easily more than half 

of its total spending. Using the minimum ad cost estimate, if all the $1,121,077 FV reported on 

its tax return as “issue advocacy” was spent on expenses related to the ads, FV’s fiscal year 

political spending constituted at least 80.1% of its total spending. 

 

This is not the first time political activity has apparently been FV’s primary activity. As 

CREW previously detailed in a letter sent to the IRS on June 15, 2016, FV admitted spending 

nearly $175,000 on political activity during the time period covered by its 2013 tax return, 

October 1, 2013 to September 30, 2014, accounting for 61% of FV’s total spending that year 

and seemingly making politics the group’s primary activity.39 

 

Violations 

 

26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(4) 

 

Even under the IRS’s misinterpretation of section 501(c)(4), and certainly under the 

plain language of the statute, FV’s political activity in fiscal year 2015 exceeded the amount 

permitted. The $1,744,267 FV admitted spending on political activity alone accounted for 

48.8% of FV’s total expenditures between October 2015 and September 2016. FV’s tax return 

further suggests it spent at least $1,121,077 on political ads, which would make FV’s fiscal 

year 2015 political spending a minimum of 80.1% of its total spending. 

 

                                                
37 Former Gov. Strickland announced his Senate run in February 2015. See Alexis Levinson, Ted Strickland 

Announces Senate Run in Ohio, Roll Call, February 25, 2015, available at https://bit.ly/2JXD0Oe.   
38 Freedom Vote, Inc., 2015 Form 990, Part IX, Line 24a. 
39 Letter from Noah Bookbinder to IRS Commissioner John A. Koskinen, June 15, 2016, available at 

https://bit.ly/2HgxoBa.   

https://bit.ly/2JXD0Oe
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26 U.S.C. § 6652 

 

Under the Code, a tax-exempt organization that, without reasonable cause, fails to 

include any of the information required on a Form 990 tax return or fails to provide the correct 

information, is liable for civil penalties.40 By failing to report the more than $1 million it spent 

on the Ohio ad as political campaign activities on its 2015 Form 990 – an omission that 

crucially allowed FV to represent that less than half of its 2015 spending was political – FV 

appears to have violated 26 U.S.C. § 6652 and should be subject to monetary penalties. 

 

26 U.S.C. § 7206 

 

Under the Code, any person who “[w]illfully makes and subscribes any return, 

statement, or other document, which contains or is verified by a written declaration that it is 

made under the penalties of perjury, and which he does not believe to be true and correct as to 

every material matter,” is guilty of a felony and subject to up to three years in prison and a fine 

of up to $100,000.41 The money spent on political campaign activities a tax-exempt 

organization reports to the IRS on its Schedule C is material for several reasons, including: (1) 

the amounts reported can be used by the IRS to determine whether the organization is 

complying with its tax-exempt status; (2) the amount an organization expended on section 527 

exempt activities in part determines exempt function taxes the organization must pay;42 and (3) 

accurate public disclosure of the amount of political activity conducted by tax-exempt 

organizations is critical to the objective of transparency that underlies the reporting required on 

Form 990.43 

 

FV’s 2015 Form 990 was signed by Mr. Nathanson under a written declaration that it 

was made under penalty of perjury, and that Mr. Nathanson had examined the return and it was 

true, correct, and complete to the best of his knowledge.44 The tax return, however, appears to 

be false and incorrect as to the material matters of the amount FV spent on political campaign 

activities in fiscal year 2015. 

 

The importance of treating FV’s spending in the Ohio Senate election as not political 

suggests FV and Mr. Nathanson’s representation may have been willful. Classifying that 

spending as political means political expenditures accounted for more than 50% of FV’s overall 

spending in 2015, a violation of FV’s tax-exempt status. As a result, the amount FV reported 

spending on political activity may have been willfully false.  

 

                                                
40 26 U.S.C. §§ 6652(c)(1)(A)(ii), 6652(c)(4); see also 2015 Instructions for Form 990, at 6. 
41 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1). 
42 26 U.S.C. § 527(f)(1). 
43 IRS, Background Paper, Summary of Form 990 Redesign Process, Aug. 19, 2008, at 1. 
44 Freedom Vote, Inc. 2015 Form 990, Part II. 
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18 U.S.C. § 1001 

 

Federal law further prohibits anyone from “knowingly and willfully” making “any 

materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation” in any matter within the 

jurisdiction of the executive, legislative, or judicial branch.45 The prohibition also includes 

anyone who “falsifies, conceals, or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact.”46  

Violations are punishable by up to five years in prison.47 By falsely stating that amount FV 

spent on political campaign activities in 2015, Mr. Nathanson and FV appear to have violated 

18 U.S.C. § 1001. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Based on the publicly available information, FV’s activities do not comport with its 

claimed status as a section 501(c)(4) tax-exempt organization. Therefore, the IRS should 

investigate FV and, should it find that FV has violated its tax-exempt status, take appropriate 

action, which may include revoking its section 501(c)(4) status, imposing any applicable excise 

taxes under section 4958 for excess benefit transactions, and treating FV as a taxable 

corporation or a section 527 political organization. Further, it appears FV and Mr. Nathanson 

falsely represented the amount FV spent on political activity in fiscal year 2015 on its tax 

return. The IRS also should investigate FV and Mr. Nathanson and, should it find they made 

false or incomplete statements on FV’s tax return, take appropriate action. 

 

Thank you for your prompt attention to this matter. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 
 

Noah Bookbinder 

Executive Director 

 

Encls. 

cc:  IRS-EO Classification 

 

                                                
45 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2). 
46 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(1). 
47 Id. 
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